Sovereignty vs. trans-boundary environmental harm: The evolving International law obligations and the Sethusamuduram Ship Channel Project

Chinthaka Mendis - United Nations / Nippon Foundation Fellow 2006

Acknowledgements

The present paper address a topic, which has recently experienced an explosion of new developments and gained enormous importance to small developing nations like Sri Lanka. It has enabled States that may be affected by environmentally degrading activities of other States to take safeguard actions in a successful manner. Furthermore this evolving new law of international responsibility attempts to strike a careful balance between international environmental protection and the principle of territorial sovereignty.

This is a very interesting and thought provoking area of research and to my humble delight my supervisors Professor Betsy Baker of Harvard Law School and Dr. Francois Bailet of UN Division for Ocean Affairs and the Law of the Sea responded with great enthusiasm. I sincerely say that I am deeply indebted to both of them for their valuable review of my work and the great support extended to me in performing my task.

In fact my interesting tenure at the Harvard Law School and DOALOS, as a United Nations/Nippon Fellow allowed me to refine my knowledge of international law and become better acquainted with this evolving international system. Thus, the Division for Ocean Affairs and the Law of the Sea, Office of Legal Affairs, United Nations and the Nippon Foundation of Japan richly deserve my most appreciative thanks for their cooperation in the establishment of this rewarding fellowship programme.

Chinthaka Mendis

Disclaimer

The views expressed herein are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Government of Sri Lanka, the United Nations, the Nippon Foundation of Japan and Harvard Law School.

Sovereignty vs. trans-boundary environmental harm: the evolving International law obligations and the Sethusamuduram Ship Channel Project

Contents

Introduction -

- Part I The duty to cooperate in International law: Sovereignty vs. trans-boundary environmental harm
 - (A) The principle of territorial sovereignty and the doctrine of abuse of rights
 - (B) The evolution of the main principles of International environmental Law
 - (C) Influence of jurisprudence in realization of trans-boundary environmental cooperation
- Part II Beyond the duty to cooperate: the evolving International environmental law obligations
 - (D) Due diligence for the protection of environment and application of precautionary principle
 - (E) Significance of joint process of assessing environmental risks
 - (F)The evolving law of State responsibility and liability

Concluding remarks

- (a) The obligation of India to cooperate with Sri Lanka
- (b) India's failure to provide adequate environmental impact assessment
- (c) Obligation to protect and preserve environment

Introduction

The island State of Sri Lanka is barely thirty kilometres away from India's southern coastal tip. Over the years both States shared common interest in keeping the region free from conflict. In fact, in June 1974 India and Sri Lanka signed bilateral agreements on their common boundary in the historic waters and on the maritime boundary in the Gulf of Mannar and the Bay of Bengal in March 1976. However the purpose of this paper is to examine the legal concepts relevant to the implications arising for Sri Lanka from the Indian Government's huge flagship project of SethuSamuduram Ship Channel (SSCP), which has generated great controversy in the region. The Indian Government launched the project on 2 July 2005 with the purpose of constructing a navigation channel through the shallow waters of Palk Strait and Adams bridge area linking the Gulf of Mannar and the Bay of Mannar and the Bay of Bengal.

The litany is that the project has far reaching strategic, economic and ecological implications for Sri Lanka. In fact, Sri Lanka's concerns were conveyed to India without much success at various levels. Since the Government of India has now chosen to implement the Project on the Indian side of the Indo-Sri Lanka maritime boundary, no Sri Lankan prior approval was sought or granted for the Project.

While India's multi-purpose project has the potential to affect several vital interests of Sri Lanka (such as security, shipping, fishing, environment) the immediate interests to be affected adversely appear to be shipping, fishing and environment.

Sri Lanka's concerns revolve around, protecting its fishery resource, protecting its coastal and marine ecosystem diversity, protecting the well-being, health and livelihoods of her coastal communities. The concerns of Sri Lanka also revolve around the ecosystem integrity of the seas around the island, and any adverse impact that would change the sensitive marine ecosystems affecting immediate and long-term ecological stability.¹

¹ Interim Report of the SSCP Advisory Group of Sri Lanka, March 2006

The Gulf of Mannar, lying between the two States is considered to be one of the biologically richest coastal regions of the world and Sri Lanka fisheries have been dependent on this area for centuries. Hence, Sri Lanka's concern for the fishery resources stems from this realization that the livelihoods of northern and northwestern fishing communities of Sri Lanka are entirely dependent on fishing activities in the affected area.

The shallow waters in the area have ensured minimal pollution due to the lack of ship traffic, but the dredging of the canal could easily destroy the ecosystem by opening up the Palk Bay and the Gulf of Mannar.

Furthermore, the very high amount of anticipated dredged material is a cause for grave concern. Similarly, any oil spill can destroy the fishery as well as beaches, while small and undetected slow pollution from leakages and discharges could similarly destroy the fishery resources. Any blasting or unplanned excavations would also destroy the diversity of habitats on which these fish rely, and lead to a collapse of fishery resources and livelihood patterns. For instance, the sea grass meadows will be destroyed and these are the exclusive diet of dugongs, which are rare marine mammal and identified endangered species.²

However, the primary concern of Sri Lanka is that the Indian studies, including the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and hydro-engineering structures have not taken the Sri Lankan maritime and terrestrial environments into account, and thus no mitigation measures are being proposed to prevent or reduce the potential impacts on Sri Lanka's environment.

The Sethusamuduram project is not just another economic or shipping development project for India it has been a long-standing dream of India. In fact the reply given by India's Minister of Shipping Mr. Baalu to a journalist who asked why Sri Lanka was not informed was why he should ask other countries about a

² lbid, p.1.

project to be executed in his homeland³. Indian Blue water Navy has also been dreaming of the canal for a long time. For the navy, such a canal means security by filling the vital strategic gap around India's coastline created by the geographical location of Sri Lanka and necessitating circum– navigation when naval craft move between East and West India.

Hitherto, Sri Lanka has been exploiting the strategic location for the development of the Colombo Port as the hub for South Asia. Geographically, the Colombo Port's pre-eminent position, almost equidistant to both the west and east coasts of the sub-continent, has become attractive to both Indian shippers and importers and the main line ships plying east-west trade routes and sailing past the island.

However, despite the economic potential impact of the SSCP on Sri Lanka's port development and transshipment business, it cannot be used as a legitimate grievance or negotiable demand in Sri Lanka's representations to India.

Given the trans-boundary nature of the environmental impacts of Sethusamudram Ship Channel Project, which goes beyond the territory of the Proponent State – India, Sri Lanka should have been involved as a key stakeholder in the entire process.

In fact, growing interdependence between States is giving rise to the increasing development of rules to deal with International environmental responsibility and trans-boundary environmental risks associated with human activity, including substantive rules for international co-operation and rules for dealing with disputes that arise between States.

In contemporary public international law, the concept of absolute territorial sovereignty is no longer recognized. Consequently, the scope for discretionary action arising from the principle of territorial sovereignty is determined by such principles and adages as 'good neighbourliness' and *sic utere tuo ut alienum non*

³ The Island, Upali Newspapers Ltd, 28/03/05

laedas (you should use your property in such a way as not to cause injury to your neighbour's) as well as by the principle of State responsibility for actions causing transboundary damage, and more importantly, the prohibition of the abuse by a State of the rights enjoyed by it by virtue of international law. The fact that this concept is deeply embedded in contemporary international law is evident in the jurisprudence of international law.

By recognizing the need for a clearer articulation of these doctrinal foundations of International law in the present context, the paper will in its Part I, analyze the nature and scope of international law relating to trans-boundary harm. Therefore, Part I not only reflects the contemporary International law on the principle of territorial sovereignty and the doctrine of abuse of rights, but also analyze the evolution of the main principles of international environmental law and the realization of trans-boundary environmental cooperation into emerging procedural obligations of prior information, consultation and exchange of information by paying due attention to the relevant legal instruments and recent jurisprudence.

In fact, the development of procedural obligations in international law beginning from 1982 United Nations Convention of the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) has greatly enhanced international protection of the marine environment. It has, *inter alia*, enabled States that may be affected in the future by environmentally degrading activities of other States to take part in the decision-making process at the vital stage where such potentially harmful activities are embarked upon. This new law of international responsibility attempts to strike a careful balance between international environmental protection and the principle of territorial sovereignty.

Hence, emerging principles relating to international environment law beyond the general duty to cooperate are of greater significance to the present case. Therefore Part II of the present paper identifies the relevant evolving international environmental law obligations including the application of the precautionary principle and the principle of cooperation in scientific research, systematic observation and assistance. These evolving legal principles form a basis for a joint

process of assessing environmental risks in the light of increasingly important law relating to State responsibility and liability. Understandably, the main principles in this connection flow from treaty law, international case law and so-called 'soft law'. However, it should be noted that these principles enjoy varying degrees of importance and global acceptance, even though some principles have now, arguably, precipitated into rules of customary international law.

Part I – The duty to cooperate in International law: Sovereignty vs. trans-boundary environmental harm

(A) The principle of territorial sovereignty and the doctrine of abuse of rights

The stating point of this paper lies in the principle of territorial sovereignty, which must bend before international obligations and identification of its limitations, where its exercise touches upon the territorial sovereignty and integrity of another State.

Although in earlier times States assumed 'full' and 'absolute' sovereignty and thus could freely use resources within their territories regardless of the impact this might have on neighbouring States, few would argue today that territorial sovereignty is an unlimited concept enabling a State to do whatever it likes. State sovereignty cannot be exercised in isolation because activities of one State often bear upon those of others and, consequently, upon their sovereign rights. As Oppenheim noted in 1912:

A State, in spite of its territorial supremacy, is not allowed to alter the natural conditions of its own territory to the disadvantage of the natural conditions of the territory of a neighbouring State.⁴

Thus, the principle of territorial sovereignty finds its limitations where its exercise touches upon the territorial sovereignty and integrity of another State. Consequently, the scope for discretionary action arising from the principle of sovereignty is determined by such principles and adages as 'good neighbourliness' and *sic utere tuo ut alienum non laedas* (you should use your property in such a way as not to cause injury to your neighbour's) as well as by the principle of State responsibility for actions causing transboundary damage.

Today, under general international law, a well-recognized restraint on the freedom of action which a State in general enjoys by virtue of its independence and

⁴ Oppenheim on International Law (1912: 243–44) Chapter Eight p.220.

territorial supremacy is to be found in the prohibition of the abuse by a State of the rights enjoyed by it by virtue of international law.

The strongest support for these principles and their implications can be found in the jurisprudence of international case law.

In *The Island of Palmas Case* (United States *v*. The Netherlands, award in 1928) the sole arbitrator Huber, who was then President of the Permanent Court of International Justice, stated that:

Territorial sovereignty involves the exclusive right to display the activities of a State. This right has as corollary a duty: the obligation to protect within the territory the rights of other States.⁵

In the *Trail Smelter Case* (United States *v*. Canada, awards in 1938 and 1941) the Arbitral Tribunal decided that, first of all, Canada was required to take protective measures in order to reduce the air pollution in the Columbia River Valley caused by sulphur dioxide emitted by zinc and lead smelter plants in Canada, only seven miles from the Canadian-US border. Secondly, it held Canada liable for the damage caused to crops, trees, etc. in the US state of Washington and fixed the amount of compensation to be paid. Finally, the Tribunal concluded, more generally, in what no doubt constitutes its best-known paragraph:

Under the principles of international law, no State has the right to use or permit the use of its territory in such a manner as to cause injury by fumes in or to the territory of another or the properties or persons therein, when the case is of serious consequence and the injury is established by clear and convincing evidence.⁶

The Arbitral Tribunal reached this conclusion on air pollution, but it is also applicable to water pollution and is now widely considered to be part of general international law.

This prohibition of causing significant harm to others or to places outside the State's territory, as well as the duty to take into account and protect the rights of

⁵ Island of Palmas Case, 2 *RIAA* (1949), pp.829–90. See also Lagoni (1981: 223–24).

⁶ Text as in Harris (1991: pp.245,224.

other States, has also been referred to and elaborated upon in other cases. For example, in 1949, in the *Corfu Channel Case* (United Kingdom *v*. Albania) the International Court of Justice (ICJ) rendered a judgment, in fact in its very first case, on the responsibility of Albania for mines which exploded within Albanian waters and which resulted in the loss of human life and damage to British naval vessels. On the question whether the United Kingdom had violated Albania's sovereignty, the Court came to the conclusion that the laying of the minefield in the waters in question could not have been accomplished without the knowledge of Albania. The ICJ held that the Corfu Channel is a strait used for international navigation and that previous authorization of a coastal State is not necessary for innocent passage. In view of the passage of foreign ships, the ICJ held therefore that it was Albania's obligation to notify,

[...] for the benefit of shipping in general, the existence of a minefield in Albanian territorial waters and to warn the approaching British warships of the imminent dangers to which the minefield exposed them.⁷

Since Albania failed to do so on the day of the incident, the Court held Albania responsible for the damage to the warships and the loss of life of the British sailors and accordingly determined the amount of compensation to be paid. For our purposes, it is relevant that the Court referred to every State's obligation not to allow knowingly its territory to be used for acts contrary to the rights of other States.

It is also relevant to refer to the *Lac Lanoux Case* (Spain *v*. France, award in 1957) on the utilization by France of the waters of Lake Lanoux in the Pyrenees for generating electricity. For this purpose, part of the water had to be diverted from its natural course through the transboundary Carol River to another river, the Ariège. According to Spain, this would affect the interests of Spanish users, but France claimed that it had ensured restoration of the original water flow and had given

⁷ ICJ Reports 1949, p. 22.

guarantees so that the needs of Spanish users would be met. France and Spain were unable to resolve this issue by negotiation, and therefore submitted it to arbitration in 1956. This led to an interesting award dealing with the rights and duties under general international law of riparian States in relation to an international watercourse. The Tribunal concluded that the works envisaged by France did not constitute infringements of the Spanish rights under the Treaty of Bayonne and its Additional Act, because France had taken adequate measures to prevent damage to Spain and Spanish users, and for other reasons. As to the question whether the prior consent of Spain would be necessary, the Tribunal was of the opinion that such an essential restriction on sovereignty could only follow from exceptional circumstances, such as regimes of joint ownership, co-imperium or condominium but not from the case in question:

[...] to admit that jurisdiction in a certain field can no longer be exercised except on the condition of, or by way of, an agreement between two States, is to place an essential restriction on the sovereignty of a State, and such restriction could only be admitted if there were clear and convincing evidence.' According to the Tribunal, prior agreement would amount to 'admitting a 'right of assent', a right of veto', which at the discretion of one State paralyses the exercise of the territorial jurisdiction of another.

However, France was under an obligation to provide information to and consult with Spain and to take Spanish interests into account in planning and carrying out the projected works. According to the Tribunal, France had sufficiently done so. While the Tribunal clearly emphasized the hard-core nature of the principle of territorial sovereignty, it also admitted that it must function within the realm of international law:

Territorial sovereignty plays the part of a presumption. It must bend before all international obligations, whatever their source, but only for such obligations.⁸

From this award is derived in general international law, as Lammers puts it:⁹

⁸ International Law Reports (1957) p.120.

⁹ Lammers on International Law (1984) p.517.

A duty for the riparian States of an international watercourse to conduct in good faith consultations and negotiations designed to arrive through agreements at settlements of conflicts of interests.

This duty has been referred to in subsequent cases, such as the *North Sea Continental Shelf Case,* where the Court refers to the obligation to enter into 'meaningful negotiations'¹⁰ and as well as in the *Barcelona Traction* case (Belgium v.Spain) in which the Court noted that:

An essential distinction should be drawn between the obligations of a State towards the international community as a whole, and those arising vis-à-vis another State in the field of diplomatic protection. By their very nature the former are the concern of all States. In view of the importance of the rights involved, all States can be held to have a legal interest in their protection; they are obligations *erga omnes*¹¹

This concept of the *obligatio erga omnes* could (in the future) be of relevance when global environmental problems are at issue, such as the extinction of the world's biodiversity, the pollution of international waters, and the threat of climatic change. The world's climate and biodiversity were identified as a 'common concern' of mankind in the 1992 Conventions on Climate Change and Biodiversity.

The Rio Declaration (1992), adopted in a non-binding form by the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED), provides in Principle 2 that States shall prevent transboundary damage:

States have, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations and the principles of international law, the sovereign right to exploit their own resources pursuant to their own environmental and developmental policies, and the responsibility to ensure that activities within their jurisdiction or control do not cause damage to the environment of other States or of areas beyond the limits of national

¹⁰ ICJ Reports 1969, p.3.

¹¹ ICJ Reports 1970, p. 32, para. 33. In the next paragraph, the Court stated that such obligations might derive, for example, in contemporary international law 'from the outlawing of acts of aggression, and of genocide, as also from principles and rules concerning the basic rights of the human person, including protection from slavery and racial discrimination'. In such cases a State has obligations vis-à-vis the international community as a whole and every other State can hold it responsible and institute a so-called actio popularis in protection of the community's interest.

jurisdiction and the health of human beings, including generations unborn.¹²

In its 1996 Advisory Opinion on the Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, the ICJ recognizes:

The existence of the general obligations of States to ensure that activities within their jurisdiction and control respect the environment of other States or of areas beyond national control is now part of the corpus of international law relating to the environment.¹³

This recognition by the ICJ leads paper to pay due attention to the increasingly important principles of International Environmental law and its procedural obligations, concerning trans boundary environmental damage.

¹² Principle 2 of the Rio Declaration (1992), United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED).

¹³ paragraph 29 of the Judgment in ICJ Reports 1996, p.225.

(B) The evolution of the main principles of international environmental law

The present section will examine the SSCP project in the light of existing principles of international environmental law that are based on customary international law, multilateral treaties and decisions of the ICJ and ITLOS.

International environmental law evolves with an integrated legal approach to environmental management and solves environment related conflicts at regional and global levels. The negotiation of resolutions, recommendations or declarations in important global forums often carries normative weight and facilitates their entry into customary law. The 'soft approach' of a nonbinding framework or 'umbrella legislations' becomes a step on the way to 'hard law' in the form of conventions, agreements, treaties or protocols. Gradually, it incorporates elements of responsibility, liability and compensation followed by penalties, sanctions, implementation and dispute settlement. However, the changing institutional structure of international cooperation and governance has created new trends where conferences of parties (COPs) and systems of implementation reviews (SIRs) have become vital elements. Regional laws, bilateral agreements and national instruments play a complimentary role.

The UN Declarations on environment commencing with the Stockholm Declaration of 1972 and over a 150 international instruments which followed, provided ample evidence of State obligations in regard to Environment Law. Justice Weeramantry in his dissenting Opinion on the Use of Nuclear Weapons, (ICJ-Advisory Opinion of 8 July 1996) at the request of World Health Organization (WHO), outlined how these obligations had accrued. He observed:

From rather hesitant and tentative beginnings, environment law has progressed rapidly under the combined stimulus of over more powerful means of inflicting irrevocable environmental damage and an ever-increasing awareness of the fragility of global environment. Together these have brought about a Universal concern with activities that may damage global environment which is the common inheritance of all nations, great and small.¹⁴

Summarizing these authorities, Weeramantry J. observed "these principles of Environmental Law thus do not depend for their validity on treaty provisions. They are part of customary international law. They are part of the '*sine qua non*' for human survival."¹⁵

The Public International law matters in question revolve around the nature and effect of international treaties, and the manner in which those treaties are practically applied. In its most basic form, international law governs the conduct of States and treaties laid down many of the rules on which such conduct is based. The treaties embody commitments that are binding at international law on Governments, which are party to them. As such, the Government is legally required to comply with, and give effect to, any provision of a treaty to which it becomes party.

In Sri Lanka and India, as in other States based on the Westminster model, there is a basic separation of powers between the Executive and the Legislature. The Executive has the power and authority to undertake foreign relations and as part of this mandate to negotiate and enter into treaties. However, the Executive cannot change the domestic law of the State to give effect under domestic law to obligations assumed through international law in respect of a treaty. This can only be done by the Legislature.

Despite this separation of powers the Legislature will almost always have a role of one kind or another in respect to treaty making. This arises in two instances. The first is where a State's domestic statute law needs expansion or amendment to encompass the obligations that it will assume when it ratifies the treaty in question. The second entails parliamentary scrutiny of the proposed ratification. It is this situation, where legislative action is required to give effect to obligations assumed

¹⁴ ICJReports1996 p. 258.

¹⁵ Ibid p.279.

under an international treaty that is commonly referred to as the "incorporation" of a treaty into domestic law.

However there are situations where international treaties may be taken into account by the Courts as a declaratory statement of customary international law, which itself is a part of the law of the land; and as relevant to the interpretation of a statute.

The first situation, where a treaty is declaratory of customary international law, underlines the point that customary international law itself forms part of domestic law.

No treaty binds States without its consent. Indeed it is an exercise of sovereignty that States undertake in deliberately assuming those commitments. Therefore obligations assumed under the UNCLOS are more than balanced by corresponding commitments by other States to act towards the particular State in a manner that protects or is consistent with its interests. As a small, developing trading nation Sri Lanka has an obvious interest in rules that protect the freedom of protection of the marine environment and the navigation of vessels carrying exports to foreign markets. Furthermore, with modest enforcement capabilities, the protection afforded by UNCLOS is no little comfort to the managing of human impacts on Sri Lanka's marine environment.

Then the question of soft law obligations in addition to treaty law has become the subject of attention. To some extent, experts recognize a limited normative force of certain norms in soft law even though they concede that those norms would not be enforceable by an international court or other international organ. To say that it does not exist because it is not of the 'enforceable' variety that most legal norms exhibit takes to another dimension of the reality of international practice.

In practice, the development of soft law norms with regard to the protection of the human environment began immediately after the Stockholm Conference with the creation of a special subsidiary organ of the UN General Assembly devoted to the promotion of both universal and regional environmental law. This United Nations Environment Program (UNEP) has played a leading role in the promotion of international cooperation in matters related to environment. A prime example of this phenomenon is provided even in its early stages by the 1978 UNEP Draft Principles of Conduct in the Field of the Environment for the Guidance of States in the Conservation and Harmonious Utilization of Natural Resources Shared by Two or More States.

At the regional level in general, and in Europe in particular, several international institutions have engaged in important activities related to environmental protection: the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), which, in particular, has adopted a series of recommendations conceived of as a follow-up to the Stockholm Declaration regarding the prevention and abatement of transfrontier pollution; the European Economic Commission (EEC) which has adopted Programmes of Action for the Environment, on the basis of which hard law is later established mainly by way of directives.

The action of some non-governmental organizations has also contributed to this aspect of international law. The International Law Association (ILA), for example, adopted an influential resolution in 1966 known as the Helsinki Rules on the Use of Waters of International Rivers, which was expanded and enlarged by the same institution in 1982 with the adoption of the Montreal Rules of International Law Applicable to Transfrontier Pollution.

All of the international bodies referred to above should be viewed, as far as their recommendatory action in this field is concerned, as transmitting basically the same message. Cross references from one institution to another, the recalling of guidelines adopted by other apparently concurrent international authorities, recurrent invocation of the same rules formulated in one way or another at the universal, regional and more restricted levels, all tend progressively to develop and establish a common international understanding. As a result of this process,

conduct and behavior which would have been considered challenges to State sovereignty twenty-five years ago are now accepted within the mainstream.¹⁶

Hence, generally understood that soft law creates and delineates goals to be achieved in the future rather than actual duties, programs rather than prescriptions, guidelines rather than strict obligations. It is true that in the majority of cases the softness of the instrument corresponds to the softness of its contents. After all, the very nature of soft law lies in the fact that it is not in itself legally binding.

Therefore, it is extremely important to observe in practice that Member States' approach the negotiation of those provisions with extreme care, just as if they were negotiating treaty provisions. Such behavior suggests that States do not view such soft recommendations as devoid of at least some political significance, if not, in the long term, any legal significance. In fact, for a few of these soft instruments, some States consider it necessary to formulate reservations to such texts, just as if they were creating formal legal obligations.¹⁷

These observations can lead to the conclusion that the identification of soft law, significant at least because it may potentially become hard law in the near or distant future, should derive from a systematic case-by-case examination in which a variety of factors are carefully considered. These factors would include, among others, the source and origin of the text (Governmental or not), the conditions, both formal and political, of its adoption, its intrinsic aptitude to become a norm of international law; and the practical reaction of States to its statement.

However, there is substantial evidence of a growing acceptance of the notion of graduated normativity in international legal contexts. A similar tendency seems to permeate some of the work of the International Law Commission (ILC). Thus, the Commission's work on the topic of international liability for injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by international law, obligations that engage state

¹⁶ Pierre-Marie Dupuy, Soft Law and the International Law of the Environment, 12 MICH. J. INT'L L. 420,422-25, 428-31 (1991). ¹⁷ Ibid.p.439.

responsibility and obligations that arise out of lawful state conduct were referred to as dealing with different shades of prohibition.¹⁸

Despite all the criticisms, soft law does perform positive functions in a world that is deeply divided. Thanks to soft law, States still have people channeling efforts toward law and toward trying to achieve objectives through the legal mechanism, rather than going ahead and doing it in other fashions. This, in itself, represents some reinforcement of the legal symbol and, at least, prevents or retards the use of violence to achieve aims.

The rapid growth of soft law and complaints about it are, in large part, a concern of the developed countries. Part of it has to do with the deep dissatisfaction that we feel at the shift of power within formal lawmaking arenas, in which we are a numerical minority. We discover that many of these fora make law we do not like. This law, we insist derisively, is soft. This may be a valid complaint, but those who are making this soft law also have a valid complaint. From their perspective, customary law, which we would consider very hard, is in fact law that is created primarily because of the great power that we in the industrial world exercise over others. There are really two sides to the controversy over soft law. It is important, when we criticize it, to appreciate that there are others on the other side of the mirror who are looking at it quite differently.¹⁹

In this context the international environmental law principle of duty to cooperate needs to be considered. This principle manifests itself as an obligation whereby States must inform and consult one another, prior to engaging in any activity or initiative that is likely to cause trans-boundary environmental harm, so that the State of origin of the potentially dangerous activity may take into consideration the interests of any potentially exposed State. The principle of information and consultation has been reiterated for almost thirty years by the different organizations. It can be found in many recommendations or resolutions: the aforementioned 1978 UNEP Draft Principles of Conduct on Shared Natural Resources; UN General Assembly Resolutions 3129 and 3281 of December 1973

¹⁸ Gunther Handl, National Uses of Transboundary Air Resources: The International Entitlement Issue Reconsidered, 26 Nat. Resorces. J. 405, 407-09 (1986).

¹⁹ Michael Reisman A Hard Look at Soft Law, 1988 Am. Socy.Int. law. p. 371-77.

(the Charter of Economic Rights and Duties of States); OECD Council recommendations on Transfrontier Pollution and the Implementation of a Regime of Equal Right of Access and Non-Discrimination in Relation to Transfrontier Pollution and ILA resolutions of 1966 and 1982 are all some of early examples in this regard.

On the other hand, International law of the non-navigational use of international rivers is now a settled body of norm and consists of both substantive and procedural rules, which have been developed through bilateral and regional treaties relating to utilization of waters of rivers, decisions of international courts and tribunals. In fact, widespread State practice regarding these rules has given rise a set of customary international law relating to international law of the river to the effect these principles are binding upon all States.

These customary international law principles have been codified by the UN Convention on the Law of the Non-Navigational Uses of International Watercourses' adopted in 1997. The Convention provides both substantive and procedural rules for the States to follow in their dealings over international watercourses. The Convention lays down important procedural mechanisms such as co-operation which includes the obligation to exchange data and information regularly, the obligation to notify other riparian States of planned measures, the establishment of joint mechanisms, environmental impact assessments, the provision of emergency information, the obligation to enter into consultations, and the obligations to negotiate in good faith. However, irrespective of the fact that a particular State has not ratified the Convention, still it is bound by the customary principles of international law of rivers.

Apart from this multilateral treaty, these customary legal norms regulating utilization of waters of international rivers have also achieved concrete recognition by the International Court of Justice in 1997. This is through its decision in the Gabcikovo-Nagymaros case, which was concerned with a dispute between Hungary and Czechoslovakia over building two dams on the Danube. The judgment of the ICJ in this case clearly indicates the concept of community of

interest in the international rivers as well as the necessity of co-operation of the States in the area of prevention of environmental harm arising out of activities regarding these common rivers.

The UN General Assembly Resolution No. 3129 on 'Co-operation in the field of the environment concerning natural resources shared by two or more States' adopted 13 December 1973, has called for "States to establish 'adequate international standards for the conservation and harmonious exploration of natural resources common to two or more States." It also provides that co-operation between countries "must be established on the basis of a system of information and prior consultation." Article 3 of the Charter of Economic Rights and Duties of States, 1974 states to the similar effect:

In the exploitation of natural resources shared by two or more countries, each state must co-operate on the basis of a system of information and prior consultation in order to achieve optimum use of such resources without causing damage to the legitimate interests of others.²⁰

The most important aspect of transboundary co-operation is that a State involved in any proposed project for the use of shared resources must inform the other State, which is likely to be affected by such a project. In this way each State will have the opportunity to determine whether the project in question is going to cause any damage or if it entails a violation of the principle of equitable and reasonable use of the resource.

²⁰ Article.3, Charter of Economic Rights and Duties of States, 1974.

(C) Influence of jurisprudence in realization of trans-boundary environmental cooperation

The duty of States to consult and cooperate in relation to the potential impact on the environment has been highlighted by the International Tribunal for Law of the Sea (ITLOS) in the MOX Plant case and the Malaysia/Singapore case merit some examination here.

In the MOX plant case Ireland objected to the UK's plans to commission a plant to manufacture mixed oxide (MOx) fuel as an addition to the Sellafield nuclear complex, for fear that related activities would harm the Irish Sea. In seeking provisional measures under Article 290 of UNCLOS Ireland claimed, *inter alia* that the UK has breached its obligations under Articles 123 and 197 of UNCLOS in relation to authorization of the Mox plant, and has failed to cooperate with Ireland in the protection of marine environment of the Irish Sea by refusing to share information with Ireland and / or refusing to carry out proper environment assessments on the impact of the Plant.²¹

Under Article 123, States bordering an enclosed or semi-enclosed sea should cooperate in assuming their rights and performing their duties under the Convention. This cooperation includes endeavouring to coordinate in the implementation of their rights and duties with respect to the protection and preservation of the marine environment. Article 197 requires the parties to cooperate on a global and as appropriate regional basis, directly or through international organizations in formulating *inter alia* standards, and recommended practices and procedures for the protection and preservation of marine environment. Ireland also relied on Article 206, which contains an obligation for States to asses the potential effects of planned activities under their jurisdiction or control that may cause substantial pollution of, or significant and harmful changes to the marine environment.

²¹ Mox Plant case (ITLOS -*UK* v. *Ireland*),Request for Provisional Measures, ITLOS reports 2001, p.95.

The ITLOS considered, in paragraph 82:

[...] that the duty to cooperate is a fundamental principle in the prevention of pollution of the marine environment under Part XII of the Convention and general international law and that rights arise there from which the Tribunal may consider appropriate to preserve under article 290 of the UNCLOS.²²

Further, ITLOS prescribed a provisional measure requiring Ireland and the United Kingdom to cooperate and to enter into consultations to exchange information with regard to possible consequences for the Irish Sea arising out of the commissioning of the MOX plant, to monitor risks or the effects of the operation of the MOX plant for the Irish Sea and to devise, as appropriate, measures to prevent pollution of the marine environment which might result from the operation of the MOX plant. It recommended that the UK review with Ireland the whole system of intergovernmental notification and co-operation in respect of Ireland's concerns about the Sellafield nuclear re-processing plant and imposed reporting requirements.²³

In his separate opinion, Judge Rudiger Wolfrum identifies the obligation to cooperate with other States whose interests may be affected as a Grundnorm not only of Part XII of the UNCLOS but of International customary law for the protection of the environment. In contrast to this clear case of obligations arising under UNCLOS, he questions whether the treaty also creates rights of cooperation between two parties to multilateral convention.²⁴

Wolfrum J. concludes by stating in paragraphs 82 to 84 of the Order, that the obligation to cooperate as the overriding principle of international environmental law, in particular when the interests of neighbouring States are at stake. The duty to cooperate denotes an important shift in the general orientation of the international legal order. It balances the principle of sovereignty of States and thus

²² Mox Plant case (ITLOS -*UK* v. *Ireland*),Request for Provisional Measures, ITLOS reports 2001,p.95.

²³ Ibid, p 96.

²⁴ Ibid. Separate opinion, Judge Rudiger Wolfrum, p140.

ensures that community interests are taken into account *vis-à-vis* individualistic State interests. It was a matter of prudence and caution, as well as in keeping with the overriding nature of the obligation to co-operate, that the parties should engage therein as prescribed in paragraph 89 of the Order.²⁵

The Land Reclamation case (Malaysia v. Singapore), concerned a request for provisional measures under Article 290(5) of UNCLOS submitted by Malaysia in its dispute with Singapore concerning land reclamation activities carried out by Singapore, which allegedly infringed Malaysia's rights in and around the Straits of Johor. The request was filed with the Registry on 5 September 2003 and the Tribunal delivered its Order on 8 October 2003.

Since January 2002, Malaysia had protested Singapore's unilateral reclamation activities along the straits that they share and had resorted to filing a case with the tribunal after negotiations between the two States failed. Underlying Malaysia's concerns are the harm done to the marine environment along the Straits of Johor, navigational difficulties brought about by a narrower channel at Pulau Tekong and infringement of her territorial waters in on area called Point 20 by reclamation work at Tuas. The Singapore's reclamation works, involving 5,214 ha of sea area and expected to be completed in 2010, will lengthen the headland in Tuas by 7 km and double the size of Pulau Tekong. Because of the reclamation work in Pulau Tekong, the distance between the island and Malaysia's Pularek naval training base at Tanjong Pengelih has been reduced to 0.75 km from 1.8 km.

Malaysia alleged that by Diplomatic Notes, it had informed Singapore of its concerns regarding Singapore's land reclamation activities in the strait of Johor and it had requested that a meeting of senior officials of the two States be held on an urgent basis to discuss these concerns with a view to resolve the dispute amicably.

 ²⁵ TLOS -*Malaysia* v. *Singapore*, Request for Provisional Measures, 5 September 2003, at para.
 89. ITLOS reports, Volume 7,2003.

Malaysia maintained that Singapore had categorically rejected its claims and had stated that a meeting of senior officials as requested by Malaysia would only be useful if the Government of Malaysia could provide new facts or arguments to prove its contentions.

ITLOS function under Article 290(5) of the UNCLOS was confined to deciding whether to exercise its discretion to prescribe provisional measures, pending the constitution of the Annex VII tribunal, if the claimant persuades ITLOS that the urgency of the situation so requires.

The scope of possible measures is set by Article 290(1) of the UNCLOS, which refers to any provisional measures which considers appropriate under the circumstances to preserve the respective rights of the parties to the dispute or to prevent serious harm to the marine environment, pending the final decision.

Malaysia requested the prescription of three provisional measures – that Singapore shall:

- (a) pending the decision of the Arbitral Tribunal, suspend all current land reclamation activities in the vicinity of the maritime boundary between the two states or of areas claimed as territorial waters by Malaysia (and specifically around Pulau Tekong and Tuas);
- (b) to the extent it has not already done so, provide Malaysia with full information as to the current and projected works, including in particular their proposed extent, their method of construction, the origin and kind of materials used, and designs for coastal protection and remediation (if any);and
- (c) afford Malaysia a full opportunity to comment upon the works and their potential impacts having regard, *inter alia*, to the information provided; and agree to negotiate with Malaysia concerning any remaining unresolved issues.²⁶

Accordingly, Singapore argued with regard to the provisional measures that:

²⁶As stipulated 'In the Dispute Concerning Land Reclamation Activities by Singapore Impinging upon Malaysia's Rights in and around the Straits of Johor inclusive of the areas around Point 20, ITLOS -*Malaysia* v. *Singapore*), Request for Provisional Measures, 5 September 2003, at Para.13. ITLOS reports, Volume 7 2003.

- (a) that there was no evidence that any damage or any irreversible and incompensable damage to Malaysia's rights would occur within the stipulated period;
- (b) that there was no evidence that any serious harm to the environment would occur within the stipulated period, as a consequence of Singapore's land reclamation activities;
- (c) that there was no urgency in the Request;and
- (d) that even if, the elements in (a) to (c) above exist, the burdens and costs to the Singapore of having to suspend the challenged acts must be balanced against the cost of a possible occurrence of the harm alleged.²⁷

ITLOS delivered its unanimous judgment on 8 October 2003. Even though Tribunal did not accede to Malaysia's request for provisional measures it required parties to establish a group of independent experts with the mandate to conduct study on the effects of the land reclamation and to propose measures to deal with any adverse effects.²⁸

In its Order, ITLOS stressed the cardinal importance of cooperation between the parties in the protection and preservation of the marine environment. ITLOS considered that it could not be excluded that, in the particular circumstances of this case, the land reclamation project might have adverse effects on the marine environment in and around the Straits of Johor. The Tribunal was of the view that "prudence and caution require that Malaysia and Singapore establish mechanisms for exchanging information on and assessing the risks or effects of land reclamation works"²⁹

The ITLOS further directed Singapore not to conduct its land reclamation, which may cause irreparable damage to Malaysia's interests or serious harm to the marine environment. Tribunal bench unanimously decided to order both parties to

²⁷.lbid,p.24..

²⁸ Ibid, p.26.

 ²⁹ ITLOS -*Malaysia* v. Singapore, Request for Provisional Measures, 5 September 2003, at Para.
 99. ITLOS reports, Volume 7 2003.

co-operate and consult in establishing a group of independent experts with terms of reference agreed upon by both sides. The group would have to conduct a study to determine the effects of Singapore's land reclamation and to propose measures to deal with the adverse effects.

Most importantly in a Joint Declaration, *ad-hoc* Judges Hossain and Oxman referred to the fundamental principle on which the Law of the Sea Convention is built and stated as follows:

The right of a State to use marine areas and natural resources subject to its sovereignty or jurisdiction is broad but not unlimited. It is gualified by the duty to have due regard to the rights of other States and to the protection and preservation of the marine environment. Nowhere is the importance of this principle more evident than in and around a narrow strait bordered by each party throughout its length. What is most urgently required to protect the respective rights of the parties pending a decision by the Annex VII arbitral tribunal is the establishment of a joint process for addressing their most immediate concerns, in this regard that builds on their respective statements and implements their duty to cooperate. Two elements are particularly important. The first is the establishment of a common base of information and evaluation regarding the effects of the land reclamation project that can command the confidence of both parties. The second is the fact that the parties are expected to consult with a view to reaching a prompt agreement on such temporary measures.³⁰

In fact, recognizing that general international law principle of duty to cooperate manifests itself as an over riding obligation whereby States must inform and consult one another, prior to engaging in any activity or initiative that is likely to cause trans-boundary environmental harm paves the Part II of the paper to

³⁰Joint Declaration, ad-hoc Judges Hossain and Oxman. TLOS *-Malaysia* v. *Singapore*, Request for Provisional Measures, 5 September 2003, at para. 16. ITLOS reports, Volume 7, 2003,p.34. (The Arbitration case, initiated by Malaysia pursuant to Annex VII of the UNCLOS before a five-member arbitral tribunal under the auspicious of International Permanent Court of Arbitration met on 10 January 2005 at the Peace Palace and determined that no further action would be taken by the Tribunal after it was briefed by the counsels of both parties on the progress in their negotiations aimed at resolving the issues by entering into a Settlement Agreement.)

consider related international environmental law obligations beyond the general duty to cooperate, in detail.

However the present paper will narrow this broad topic by tackling it within a policy frame that the State of origin of the potentially dangerous activity should take into consideration the interests of any potentially exposed State in order both to explain the significance of substantial Environmental Impact Assessment and to illustrate its practical application through a current and extremely relevant case study. In doing so paper provides an overview of the evolving international environmental law obligations in the context of State responsibility and liability.

Part II – Beyond the duty to cooperate: the evolving International environmental law obligations

(D)Due diligence for the protection of environment and application of precautionary principle

The main principles of international environmental law concerning trans-boundary harm, nature conservation and environmental protection, emerge from treaty law, international case law and 'soft law' instruments such as the Stockholm and Rio Declarations. However, not every principle has the same scope or status in international law. Some are well established, while others are still emerging.

The principles of 'due diligence' or 'due care' with respect to the environment and natural wealth and resources are among the first basic principles of environmental protection and preservation law. They take root in ancient and natural law as well as in religion. Apart from constant monitoring there is an increasing emphasis on the duty of States to take preventive measures to protect the environment.³¹

³¹ Interestingly, in the ITLOS case, Malaysia relied upon an anticipated infringement of its own rights under the UNCLOS as a further ground for the prescription of provisional measures. In fact, in that context, Malaysia invoked the precautionary principle.

Even though in its submission Malaysia did not specify what it understands the precautionary principle to entail what its status is in relation to UNCLOS, Singapore had argued on two specific points in relation to the principle.

First, if understood as a principle that requires States not to use the lack of full scientific certainty as a reason for postponing measures to prevent environmental degradation in situations where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage – the precautionary principle has no application in circumstances where studies indicate that no serious harm is foreseeable. Further Singapore relied on its studies indicate that the reclamation works do not entail a risk of serious harm.

Second, the precautionary principle must operate within the limitations of the exceptional nature of provisional measures. As Judge Wolfrum stated in the MOX Plant case, even if that principle were to be accepted as part of customary international law, the basic limitations on the prescription of provisional measures, which "finds its justification in the exceptional nature of provisional measures", cannot be overruled by invoking the precautionary principle. To hold otherwise would mean that:

^[...] the granting of provisional measures becomes automatic when an applicant argues with some plausibility that its rights may be prejudiced or that there was serious risk to the marine environment. This cannot be the function of provisional measures in particular since their prescription has to take into consideration the rights of all parties to the dispute.

The notion of precaution is an attractive one. It can be taken to mean that it adopts a parental attitude towards the environment, protecting it from potential harm by acting on foresight and avoiding unacceptable risks. It appears that the precautionary principle (PP) has had a meteoric rise in the international law arena, moving rapidly through soft law to being incorporated into treaties and, at the same time, hardening from an academic principle to a more clearly defined objective principle.³²

The precautionary principle is included in the Rio Declaration, Principle 15 which states:

Where there are threats of serious of irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures to prevent environmental degradation.³³

The following extract from Bernie and Boyle goes some way towards explaining the confusion that can arise over the level of harm that it is envisaged will trigger the operation of the principle:

Some states have asserted that they are not bound to act until there is clear and convincing scientific proof of actual or threatened harm.[...]this argument has been used at various times to delay the negotiation of measures to tackle the risk of global climate change, acid rain, and ozone depletion. While this approach may reflect the formulation of international law in the *Trail Smelter* case, it makes no allowance for scientific uncertainty in matters of prediction, and ignores the very different context of that case. A more realistic approach, when the question is one of prevention of foreseeable harm, not responsibility for actual harm, is to lower the threshold of proof. While still entailing some element of foresee ability, this would require measures of

In fact, Singapore even argued by stating that there was no evident serious harm anticipated and Malaysia did not seek to point to any such specific harm, such as the imminent opening of a factory about to pour toxic wastes into the sea or the imminent dumping of toxic cargoes at sea. Malaysia's complaint was of incremental cumulative increases in hydrological effects, which may or may not occur and which may or may not be caused by Singapore's reclamation works.

³² Bernie and Boyle, International Law and the Environment p. 96.

³³ Principle 15 of the Rio Declaration (1992), United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED).

prevention at an earlier stage, when there is still some room for uncertainty. Expressions such as 'reasonably foreseeable' or 'significant risk' allow both the magnitude of harm and the probability of its occurrence to be taken into account. A stronger version of the precautionary principle goes further by reversing the burden of proof altogether. In this form, it becomes impermissible to carry out an activity unless it can be shown that it will not cause unacceptable harm to the environment. Examples of its use in this sense include the resolution-suspending disposal of low-level radioactive waste at sea without the approval of the London Dumping Convention Consultative Parties. [...] The main effect of the principle in these situations is to require states to submit proposed activities affecting the global commons to international scrutiny. ³⁴

Judge Weeramanty explained the precautionary principle in the French Nuclear Test cases, as a principle, which places a clear burden on a State to carry out a precautionary lawful activity to establish that no essential damage will ensure as a result of such activity. However, he was reluctant to recognize the precautionary principle as an established principle in international law and stated that it can without doubt be termed as an emerging principle.

Several international instruments and case law decisions have been outlining a profile with different connotations for the Precautionary Principle. The 1982, the World Charter for Nature included the precautionary principle, when indicating that activities that seriously endanger nature should be preceded by an in-depth examination, and that people undertaking these activities should demonstrate that the forecasted benefits are greater than the harm that could be caused to nature. Moreover, it stipulated that "[...] where potential adverse effects are not fully understood, the activities should not proceed".³⁵

The Report of the Governing Council on the Work of its Fifteenth Session of the UNEP, recommended in 1989 that all Governments adopt "the principle of precautionary action", as the basis for their policies, drawn up to prevent and eliminate marine pollution. In Recommendation 89/1, dated 22 June 1989, the

³⁴ Bernie and Boyle, International Law and the Environment pp. 97-98.

³⁵ UN/GA/Res/37/7.

State Parties to the Paris Convention for the Prevention of Marine Pollution from Land-Based Sources stated that they:

[...] accept the principle of safeguarding the marine ecosystem of the Paris Convention area by reducing at source polluting emissions of substances that are persistent, toxic, and liable to bioaccumulation by the use of the best available technology and other appropriate measures. This applies especially when there is reason to assume that certain damage or harmful effects on the living resources of the sea are likely to be caused by such substances, even where there is no scientific evidence to prove a causal link between emissions and effects (the principle of precautionary action).³⁶

The Text on Ocean Protection issued by the UN Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED) stipulates that: "A precautionary and anticipatory rather than a reactive approach is necessary to prevent the degradation of the marine environment".³⁷ The system implemented throughout the European Union has spread the PP to a great extent. In a Resolution dated 13 April, 1999, the European Council indicated that the future European policy should be guided by the precautionary principle when drawing up rules and standards, or other activities. On 2 February 2000, the European Commission adopted a communiqué on the PP, in order to advise the stakeholders, particularly the European Parliament, Council and Member States of the manner in which the Commission applies or intends to apply the PP. Among other aspects, this Communiqué states that:

This is a principle addressing the protection of the environment but with a broad scope covering all actions that might be suspected of having harmful effects of any type whatsoever'; the EC has the right to establish the level of protection against risk as deemed appropriate; the level of risk adopted is an eminently political responsibility; the application of the PP should be based on a scientific assessment that is as complete as possible, subject to permanent review, in the light of new scientific data.³⁸

³⁶ UNEP Recommendation 89/1, dated June 22, 1989.

³⁷ UNCED Text on Protection of Oceans, UN Doct.A/CONF.151/PC/100.

³⁸ European Commission communiqué dated 2/2/2000.

As already indicated, the Precautionary Principle is supported by general principles of law such as good faith, avoiding abuse of the law, duty of diligence, liability for damages, etc.

In terms of acknowledging the PP as a common rule of law, the statements by Justices Shearer, Laing and Treves in the ITLOS Bluefin Tuna Cases, are explanatory, as outlined below. In this case, the burden of the proof is reversed, as the person intending to implement the action must prove that it is not harmful at the product or process levels.

It should be noted that several States have included the PP in their domestic laws, including Germany, Australia, Canada, New Zealand, South Africa and Israel, particularly in terms of fisheries.

However UNCLOS does not include a specific reference to this principle, although covering perfectly, among other matters, to accept the duty of determining the allowable catch of living resources in their exclusive economic zone, in order to avoid endangering them through excessive exploitation,³⁹ the commitment to cooperation in terms of confirming highly migratory species⁴⁰,marine mammals⁴¹, anadromous species,⁴² catadromous species,⁴³ the duty to adopt measures designed to conserve the living resources of the high seas in terms of their nationals,⁴⁴ the duty of deciding on the allowable catch and establishing other conservation measures for the living resources of the high seas,⁴⁵ the duty to adopt the steps required for the effective protection of the marine environment in the Zone.⁴⁶ the general obligation to protect and preserve the marine environment,⁴⁷ the obligation to take all steps compatible with the Convention as required to prevent, reduce and control marine pollution from any source

- ⁴⁴ Article 117 of UNCLOS
- ⁴⁵ Article 119 of UNCLOS

³⁹ Article 61 of UNCLOS

⁴⁰ Article 64 of UNCLOS

⁴¹ Article 65 of UNCLOS

⁴² Article 66 of UNCLOS

⁴³ Article 67 of UNCLOS

⁴⁶ Article 145 of UNCLOS

⁴⁷ Article 192 of UNCLOS

whatsoever,⁴⁸ the duty to avoid transferring damages or dangers, nor turning one type of pollution into another,⁴⁹ the duty of adopting measures to prevent marine pollution caused by the use of technologies or the introduction of new or exogenous species,⁵⁰ the obligation to issue laws and regulations to prevent, reduce and control marine pollution from: onshore sources,⁵¹ activities on sea bottom, subject to national jurisdiction,⁵² activities performed in the Zone by vessels or facilities operating under their flag,⁵³ dumping,⁵⁴ by vessels sailing under their flag or registered in their territory,⁵⁵ pollution from or through the atmosphere.⁵⁶

The UNCLOS also acknowledges the right of the coastal States to issue laws and regulations on innocent passage through their territorial waters for matter such as the conservation of the living resources of the sea,⁵⁷ and the preservation of their environment, as well as the prevention, reduction and control pollution in territorial waters,⁵⁸ Moreover, UNCLOS acknowledges the sovereign rights and jurisdiction of the coastal State in the Exclusive Economic Zone in terms of the protection and preservation of the marine environment,⁵⁹ the rights of the coastal State in its Exclusive Economic Zone to ban, curtail or regulate the exploitation of marine mammals even more strictly than stipulated in the Convention,⁶⁰ the powers to establish special requirements for foreign vessels entering their ports or inland waters, in order to prevent marine pollution,⁶¹ the right to issue and ensure compliance with non-discriminatory laws and regulations in order to prevent, reduce and control marine pollution caused by vessels in ice-covered zones,⁶²

- ⁴⁸ Article 194 of UNCLOS
 ⁴⁹ Article 195 of UNCLOS
 ⁵⁰ Article 196 of UNCLOS
- ⁵¹ Article 207 of UNCLOS
- ⁵² Article 208 of UNCLOS
- ⁵³ Article 209 of UNCLOS
- ⁵⁴ Article 210 of UNCLOS
- ⁵⁵ Article 211 of UNCLOS
- ⁵⁶ Article 212 of UNCLOS
- ⁵⁷ Article 22(1.d)UNCLOS
- ⁵⁸Article 22(1.f) UNCLOS
- ⁵⁹ Article 56 of UNCLOS
- ⁶⁰ Article 65 of UNCLOS
- ⁶¹ Article 211 of UNCLOS ⁶² Article 234 of UNCLOS

Furthermore, Article 237 of the UNCLOS established that the provisions stated in Part XII (Protection and Preservation of the Marine Environment) do not affect the specific obligations accepted by the States under special agreements and conventions signed earlier on this matter, nor agreements that may be signed to promote the general principles of the Convention.⁶³

In terms of the precautionary principle, international jurisprudence is focused on a few cases, such as: French Nuclear Tests (ICJ, 1995), Gabčikovo-Nagymaros (ICJ, 1997), Beef Hormones (WTO Appellate Body, 1997), Agricultural Products (WTO Appellate Body, 1998), Southern Bluefin Tuna (ITLOS, 1999), MOx Plant Case and Land Reclamation Case (ITLOS, 2003) in addition to some other cases held by the European Court of Justice.

In the *Nuclear Tests* case, New Zealand invoked the obligation of France to furnish evidence that underground nuclear tests do not result in the introduction of such materials into the environment, in compliance with the PP.⁶⁴ In a Dissenting Opinion, Justice Palmer indicated that both the PP as well as the requirement for evaluating the environmental impact should be pursued "where activities may have a significant effect on the environment"⁶⁵. In turn, Justice Weeramantry, who also issued a dissenting opinion, thought that the PP was developing into a part of the international environmental law. In both cases, the Justices had assigned a common value to the principle.

In the Gabcikovo-Nagymaros case, ICJ stated, in the paragraph 113 of its Judgment: "Court recognizes that both Parties agree on the need to take environmental concerns seriously and to take the required precautionary measures." Further, in paragraph 140, the court also stated;

⁶³ V. Hansson, Ruden, Sandin, The Role of Precaution in Marine Risk Assessment. Background Paper for the News Policy Forum, Javea, Spain, 26 September 2002.

⁶⁴ Request for an Examination of the Situation in Accordance with paragraph 63 of the ICJ's Judgment of December 1974 in Nuclear Tests, ICJ Reports 1995, Order issued on September 22, 1995.

⁶⁵ Ibid.p.90.

It is clear that the Project's impact upon, and its implications for, the environment are of necessity a key issue. The numerous scientific reports, which have been presented to the Court by the Parties, even if their conclusions are often contradictory, provide abundant evidence that this impact and these implications are considerable.⁶⁶

ITLOS, in its Order of 27 August 1999 in the Southern Bluefin Tuna (SBT) Cases (Requests for provisional measures), paved the way for the request for a precautionary measure without specifically mentioning this. It should be borne in mind that the provisional measures requested by New Zealand and Australia included:

[...] that Japan immediately cease unilateral experimental fishing for SBT; that the parties act consistently with the precautionary principle in fishing for SBT pending a final settlement of the dispute.⁶⁷,

Further the ITLOS stated:

Considering that, in the view of the Tribunal, the parties should in the circumstances act with prudence and caution to ensure that effective conservation measures are taken to prevent serious harm to the stock of southern bluefin tuna.

Considering that there is scientific uncertainty regarding measures to be taken to conserve the stock of southern bluefin tuna and that there is no agreement among the parties as to whether the conservation measures taken so far have led to the improvement in the stock of southern bluefin tuna;

Considering that, although the Tribunal cannot conclusively assess the scientific evidence presented by the parties, it finds that measures should be taken as a matter of urgency to preserve the rights of the parties and to avert further deterioration of the southern bluefin tuna stock.⁶⁸

Furthermore, in his Separate Opinion, Judge Treves concludes that;

⁶⁶ The judgment of the ICJ in the Case Concerning the Gabcikovo-Nagymaros Project (Hungary vs. Slovakia); para. 140, at 1997 ICJ Reports p.39.

 ⁶⁷ ITLOS, in its Order of 27 August 1999 Southern Bluefin Tuna (SBT) Cases (Requests for provisional measures) Paragraphs 77,79 and 80.ITLOS Reports 1999 p.280.
 ⁶⁸ Ibid.p.280.

I fully understand the reluctance of the Tribunal in taking a position as to whether the precautionary approach is a binding principle of customary international law. Other courts and tribunals, recently confronted with this question, have avoided giving an answer. In my opinion, in order to resort to the precautionary approach for assessing the urgency of the measures to be prescribed in the present case, it is not necessary to hold the view that this approach is dictated by a rule of customary international law. The precautionary approach can be seen as a logical consequence of the need to ensure that, when the arbitral tribunal decides on the merits, the factual situation has not changed. In other words, a precautionary approach seems to me inherent in the very notion of provisional measures.⁶⁹

It is also noted that countless multinational conventions that adopted the PP, such as those on the Ozone Layer, Climate Change and Biodiversity exceed 180 State Parties.

It seems clear that, at the international level, precaution constitutes a 'good governance' type of conduct that is voluntary in nature.⁷⁰ It is implemented through the exercise of the right to sovereignty, and is deployed in a constrictive rather than prohibitive manner, when there is some doubts about whether an activity may seriously endanger the environment, opting for the safer ground of the known. When saying that precaution is an expression of 'good governance', we wish to distinguish it from prevention (due diligence), as the latter is the duty of States, a real link between the lawful and unlawful at the international level, with respect to the risks inherent to certain activities.⁷¹

In brief, it may be stated that precaution bases its actions on uncertain risks, while prevention is focused on a certain risk, and uncertain damages. By stressing that the application of the precautionary principle constitutes an internal policy act, we

⁶⁹ Separate Opinion, Judge Treves, p.9, in ITLOS Order of 27 August 1999 Southern Bluefin Tuna (SBT) Cases (Requests for provisional measures)

⁷⁰D.VanderZwaag, "The Precautionary Principle and Marine Environmental Protection: Slippery Shores, Rough Seas, and Rising Normative Tides", Ocean Development and International Law, Vol 33, N°2, 2002, pp. 165

⁷¹ Sands, "International Courts and the Precautionary Principle", Precaution from Rio to Johannesburg, p212

indicate that this is a free decision through which a State or international entity exercises its sovereign powers to determine the level of environmental protection to be imposed under its jurisdiction.⁷²

In contrast to the principle of prevention that may be deployed *ex ante* and *ex post* the damaging fact, precautionary measures must always be implemented *ex ante*, as they respond to forecasts of a potential risk that might cause damages, before being supported by unchallenged scientific evidence of whether the activities are hazardous or not.

More specifically, due to the speed of scientific progress, the PP itself indicated the provisional nature of these precautionary measures, which should be reviewed in the light of the various levels of certainty/uncertainty offered by scientific progress. It should be borne in mind that the burden of proof is reversed under the PP, with the person wishing to implement a specific activity necessarily demonstrating that it does not endanger the environment.⁷³

The application of the principle may not constitute an 'obligation' for the international subject to adopt the forecasts issued, due to the lack of scientific certainty over whether or not the activity entails some risk.

Although the precautionary principle has been viewed by some as a stumbling block that is merely intuitive and non-scientific, this is a core principle that underpins long-lasting sustainable development with intergenerational accountability. Its powerful presence in the Law of the Sea merely underscores its status as and essential element for the rational regulation of the seas, whose ecosystems and behavior are still unknown.

It appears that PP as a tool that builds up links between science and politics, when outlining plans for sustainable development. Although its juridical status still lacks

⁷² Ibid p.165.

⁷³ Sunstein, C.R. "Beyond the Precautionary Principle", University of Pennsylvania Law Review, Vol. 151, 2003, p. 1011.

consensus, there is no denying that it has generated an obligation for the policymakers: remaining permanently alert to the dangers of ignoring the potential risks of specific activities.

(E) Significance of joint process of assessing environmental risks

As already implied, the customary duty not to cause damage to the environment of other States is the central point of reference in our context. It has to be underlined that ICJ has acknowledged the legally binding character of that rule. In the Gabcikovo Nagymaros Case, the ICJ stated that:

[...] the existence of a general obligation of States to ensure that activities within their jurisdiction and control respect the environment of other States or of areas beyond national control is now part of the corpus of international law relating to the environment.⁷⁴

Thus, the ICJ reaffirmed that this basic environmental obligation is part of general international law, not simply a principle guiding a sectoral and rather isolated marginal new legal field. It is also interesting to note that the ICJ did not find it necessary to mention that particular part of Principle 21 of the Stockholm Declaration, which refers to the use of resources. By doing this, the ICJ placed the emphasis on the environmental component of that Principle. The ICJ implicitly acknowledged that the scientific knowledge, the technological innovations and the widely established rules and procedures of environmental policy and law enable at present times States to use their natural resources in a sustainable way, without damaging the environment of other States.

As already outlined, the customary duty not to cause damage contains a preventive component. That means, it also covers activities which may have an adverse transboundary impact. Accordingly, States have to take preventive measures in order to avoid such impacts. The Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) reflects this preventive approach and the principle of prevention, which is an integral component of the basic customary rule for the protection of the environment of other States and of the global commons.⁷⁵

⁷⁴ Case Concerning the Gabcikovo - Nagymaros Project: (Hung. v. Slovak.), (25 Sept 1997) ICJ Reports 1997 p.7.

⁷⁵ Espoo Convention, (EIA Convention) Feb. 25, 1991.

At this stage it is necessary to understand the components of an environmental impact assessment. The environmental impact assessment is a systematic and detailed study of the adverse effects that a planned activity may have on the environment. The EIA is meant to ensure consideration of a project's environmental impacts and to influence policymaking by predicting the implications of a project and aiding in the mitigation and alleviation of any harm. There are no clear and defined standards for environmental impact assessments, and different planners and analysts conduct them differently. Due to variation in political regimes, natural systems, and cultural values, it is difficult to generalize one all-purpose procedure for impact assessment.⁷⁶

Nonetheless, to give an overview of the EIA process, some generalizations can be made. An EIA usually begins with preliminary activities, which include choosing a decision maker, describing the proposed action, and reviewing applicable legislation. The next step is impact identification, or scoping, which requires a selection of the various impacts to be studied, a decision that is generally made with respect to magnitude, extent, significance, and special sensitivity of certain areas to certain harms.

Most EIAs cover four broad categories of impacts, ecological, social, technological, and risk or hazard impacts.⁷⁷ Next, for purposes of comparison, a baseline study of the area prior to the proposed action must be conducted. Impact evaluation and quantification then occurs. During this stage, various mitigation measures are considered, because alleviating certain harms may make one alternative more appealing than another. Quantification is very difficult because many of the proposed impacts do not have a readily available economic value. In the next stage, the different alternatives and their predicted impacts are compared. Many EIAs are then reviewed by a Government, department, agency, or board, and public participation and comment is generally conducted. Lastly, the EIA process includes documentation, which creates a detailed environmental impact statement

⁷⁶ Yusuf j. Ahmad & George k. Sammy, Guidelines to Environmental Impact Assessment in Developing Countries p.9 (1999).

⁷⁷ Michael Clark & John Herington, Introduction: Environmental Issues, Planning and the Political Process, p 1,4.

delineating the comparison of alternatives and decision making, during which policymakers choose a project alternative based upon the environmental impact assessment. Lastly, the decision maker may have difficulty separating facts and subjective values, while personal preferences may also compromise the impartiality of an EIA procedure.

One scholar has identified eight principles for the design of an effective impact assessment process.⁷⁸The principles are:

- (1) An integrated approach;
- (2) Clear and automatic application of all requirements to all significant undertakings;
- (3) Critical examination of purposes and comparison of alternatives;
- (4) Legal, mandatory, and enforceable requirements;
- (5) Open and participatory process;
- (6) Consideration of implementation issues, including monitoring and compliance enforcement;
- (7) Practical and efficient execution; and
- (8) Links to broad policy concerns, such as the economy, agriculture, transportation, and urban development.

Following these guidelines, EIAs can be performed effectively and have the potential to influence environmental policy worldwide.

The roots of environmental impact assessments can be found in the 1972 Stockholm Declaration. It acknowledged the need for a common outlook and for common principles to inspire and guide the peoples of the world in the preservation and enhancement of the human environment. The Stockholm Declaration recognizes the need for environmental "planning" in seven of its twenty-six principles. Twenty years later, at the second international conference on the environment, the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development recognized that the concept of "planning" had become a concrete obligation to undertake environmental impact assessment. In Principle 17, the Rio Declaration states:

⁷⁸ Robert V. Bartlett, Integrated Impact Assessment: The New Zealand Experiment, in Environmental policy: transnational issues and national trends(1997) p.157, 166.

Environmental impact assessment, as a national instrument, shall be undertaken for proposed activities that are likely to have a significant adverse effect on the environment and are subject to a decision of a competent national authority.⁷⁹

On 25 September 1997, the ICJ decided the Case Concerning the Gabcikovo-Nagymaros Project(Hungary vs. Slovakia), resolving a long-standing dispute between the States of Hungary and Slovakia. The case dealt with a 1977 treaty between the two countries that created a joint project to construct a series of dams and barrages on the Danube River, which runs along the countries' border. The Treaty required the construction of two series of locks, one at Gabcikovo (in Slovakian territory) and one at Nagymaros (in Hungarian territory), which together would constitute a single and indivisible operational system of works. The goals of the development were to decrease flooding on the Danube, improve navigation, and increase energy production for both countries. In the early 1990s, after Slovakia had spent millions of dollars constructing the Gabcikovo dam on its territory, Hungary refused to fulfill its treaty obligations until further studies of the project's impact on the environment could be performed. Slovakia argued that both countries had already studied the environmental impacts in detail and that Hungary simply was stalling the project for financial and political reasons. In October 1992, Slovakia unilaterally diverted the Danube into an alternate barrage system in order to counteract the delay and receive some benefits from its enormous expenditures on the Gabcikovo dam. In response, Hungary purported to officially terminate the 1977 Treaty. The parties then brought this arbitration to the ICJ, asking the Court to decide if Hungary had the right to delay and/or terminate the Treaty based on its environmental concerns, and if Slovakia's unilateral actions were legal under the Treaty and general principles of international law.

The ICJ's ruling deals with the rights and responsibilities of the parties, thus it leads paper to discuss the implications of the ICJ's oversight with regard to environmental impact.

⁷⁹ Principle 17 of the Rio Declaration (1992), UNCED.

It appears that while the parties spent a great deal of time arguing over whether the many studies fulfilled the requirement for an environmental impact assessment, the opinion of the ICJ makes no mention of these studies or their adequacy as EIAs. The ICJ dealt with the studies in a cursory fashion, stating: both Parties have placed on record an impressive amount of scientific material aimed at reinforcing their respective arguments.⁸⁰

The ICJ has given attention to this material, in which the Parties have developed their opposing views as to the ecological consequences of the Project. It concludes, however, that it is not necessary in order to respond to the questions put to it in the Special Agreement for it to determine which of those points of view is scientifically better founded. While avoiding a direct discussion of the scientific studies, the ICJ instead based its decision that Hungary was not entitled to abandon the works at Nagymaros on the doctrine of treaty law. Under treaty law, suspension of a treaty is justified if it is the only means of safeguarding an essential interest that in situations of grave an imminent peril.⁸¹ Applying this standard, the ICJ found that Hungary's purported 'environmental necessity' did not entitle it to suspend work on the project because the potential environmental harms were not grave and imminent, but were uncertain and long-term.⁸²

While refusing to address the scientific studies directly, the ICJ apparently agreed with Slovakia's version of the facts;

If state of necessity could not exist without a 'peril' duly established at the relevant point in time; the mere apprehension of a possible 'peril' could not suffice in this respect."

The Court continued:

The peril claimed by Hungary was to be considered in the long term, and, more importantly, remained uncertain. As Hungary itself

⁸⁰The judgment of the ICJ in the Case Concerning the Gabcikovo-Nagymaros Project (Hungary vs. Slovakia) 1997 ICJ Reports p.36.

⁸¹ Ibid. at Para. 54p.35.

⁸² Ibid. Para. 54, at p.35.

acknowledges, the damage that it apprehended had primarily to be the result of some relatively slow natural processes, the effects of which could not easily be assessed.⁸³

It seems the judges believed that the scientific studies had been inadequate and that more assessment was needed, they could have characterized this lack of information as "grave and imminent peril." Indeed, it can be implied that the Court found Slovakia's scientific arguments more persuasive in stating that "Hungary could [...] have resorted to other means in order to respond to the dangers that it apprehended.⁸⁴

In contrast to the Court's opinion, Justice.C.G.Weeramantry's concurring opinion directly addressed the issues of international environmental law, and delineated guidelines for the parties to follow in future negotiations. In particular, Weeramantry J. discussed environmental impact assessment in detail and stressed that any future version of the Project must be preceded by a complete EIA.

While the Court's opinion avoided the scientific arguments, resolving the questions in the special agreement without deciding the scientific issues, Weeramantry J's opinion directly addressed the science. Weeramantry J. clearly found Hungary's arguments of uncertainty, persuasive, and stated that, "had the possibility of environmental harm been the only consideration to be taken into account in this regard, the contentions of Hungary could well have proved conclusive."⁸⁵ However, Weeramantry J. acknowledged that science was not the only issue in this case, and that the Treaty and Slovakia's expenditures had to be taken into account as well. Thus, while Weeramantry J. was concerned with the environmental risks of the Project, he ultimately agreed with the Court that treaty law governed this case. While concurring in the ultimate decision, however, It seems Weeramantry J's

⁸³ Ibid. Para 61.

⁸⁴ Ibid. Para 60.

⁸⁵ Case Concerning the Gabcikovo - Nagymaros Project: Separate Opinion of Justice Weeramantry (Hung. v. Slovak.), ICJ Reports 1997.

discussion of international environmental obligations, especially environmental impact assessment was much richer than that attempted by the Court.

Weeramantry J's opinion began with a discussion on sustainable development as a principle of international law. He described the concept of sustainable development through historical examples of sustainability in ancient civilizations.⁸⁶ In concluding his discussion on sustainable development, he asserted that modern environmental law should "take account of the perspectives and principles of traditional systems, not merely in a general way, but with respect to specific principles, concepts.

He then cited the principle of trusteeship of the earth's resources, the principle of intergenerational rights, the principle that development and environmental conservation must go hand in hand,' arguing that most of these principles have relevance in the present case.

Weeramantry J. also asserted that environmental protection is a sine qua non for numerous human rights such as the right to health and the right to life itself and conncluded by stating that;

While all peoples have the right to initiate development projects and enjoy their benefits; there is likewise a duty to ensure that those projects do not significantly damage the environment.⁸⁷

The *Gabcikovo-Nagymaros Case* does bode well as a precedent for future disputes over the environmental effects of development, while the Court's opinion did require the parties to "look a fresh" at the environmental consequences of their future actions.

The Dissenting Opinion given by Weeramantry J, on 22 September 1995 in the Nuclear test case between New Zealand and France is also relevant to the present

48

⁸⁶ See Ibid. at Para.9-10 (discussing environmentalism in the ancient irrigation based civilization on Sri Lanka), 16 (detailing the irrigation systems of China and the Inca civilizations).
⁸⁷ Ibid. Para. 52.

analysis. Commenting on UN Environmental Programme (UNEP) Guidelines of 1987 'Goals and Principles of Environmental Impact Assessment', he observed that the Court;

[...] situated as it is at the apex of international tribunals, necessarily enjoys a position of special trust and responsibility in relation to the principle of environmental law, especially those relating to what is described in environmental law as Global Commons.

[...]When a matter is brought before it, which raises serious environmental issues of global importance, and a prima facie case is made out of the possibility of environmental damage, the Court is entitled to take into account the Environmental Impact Assessment principle in determining its preliminary approach. It is after the Environmental Impact Assessment stage is reached that it could be determined if the fears expressed may be proved groundless or not⁸⁸

⁸⁸Dissenting Opinion given by Weeramantry J, in the Nuclear test case between New Zealand and France (Order of 22nd September 1995) ICJ Reports 1995p.7.

(F) The evolving law of State responsibility and liability

Three levels of State responsibility have been identified by scholars in relation to the environment: The most traditional one is that related to responsibility on the basis of fault or lack of due diligence. At the intermediate level, one finds the objective or strict responsibility, which is related to an obligation of result; the obligation not to damage the environment and the violation of which will engage responsibility regardless of fault. The most stringent level, referred to as absolute responsibility, concerns liability for acts not prohibited by international law irrespective of fault or of the lawfulness of the activity in question⁸⁹.

Examples of all these types of responsibility can be found in contemporary international environmental law. UNCLOS regime is mostly based on the due diligence test, an obligation of result involving objective or strict liability is found in the Convention on Environmental Modification Techniques, and finally, absolute international liability is found in the Convention on International Liability for Damage Caused by Space Objects.⁹⁰

In many instances, environmental damage will affect the territory of a given state and thus provide the legal basis for the exercise of claims. Increasingly, however, damage extends to areas beyond national jurisdiction and thus becomes global in nature. This situation prompts the question of who shall be entitled to a claim, demand the termination of the activities in question, and eventually receive compensation. Because of the need to avoid competing claims and the lack of institutions representing the interest of the international community, international law has so far been reluctant to recognize an *actio popularis,* requiring instead a direct legal interest on the part of States.

⁸⁹ Bernie and Boyle, International law and the environment. 430.

⁹⁰ Ibid p. 431.

Apparently, International law has begun to react to this new challenge in several ways. Firstly the public interests of the world community are gradually being recognized since the Barcelona Traction case⁹¹. The violation of obligations erga omnes as in East Timor case would provide legal standing to all States to react. Secondly, the concept of jus cogens also provides a legal ground for the action of states not directly damaged. And finally, the rules relating to the Law of Treaties on the breach of a multilateral treaty equally allow for the action of all states concerned. In addition, the work of the ILC on the codification of the Law of State Responsibility follows a similar orientation.⁹²

The compound 'primary' obligation identified by the ILC in its commentary on 'international liability' refers to four basic duties: prevent, inform, negotiate, and repair. The emphasis is on preventive measures as well as the new obligation to notify and consult. However, it is surprising that the failure to comply with the first three duties mentioned is not regarded as wrongful and, consequently, no action can be brought against such failure; only the failure to make reparations is ultimately identified with a wrongful act and, hence, engages the State's responsibility.

It seems the ILC's proposed liability scheme is a general scheme, intended to operate alongside and to complement schemes targeted to establishing arrangements for liability in relation to a particular pre-identified source of potential harm, such as, for example, the International Maritime Organization (IMO) Conventions for the compensation of damage caused by oil pollution from ships.

Draft Article 5 stated that: 'In accordance with the present articles, liability arises from significant transboundary harm caused by an activity referred to in article 1 and shall give right to compensation or other relief⁹³. Yet the draft articles did not articulate or identify the basis of such liability, inferring that liability might consist solely of the procedural obligation to negotiate an appropriate level of

⁹¹ The works of the ILC(2001) p.11(Doc.A/CN/53/10)

⁹²lbid p.18. ⁹³ lbid. p.16.

compensation. Draft Article 21, the key provision, provided that: "The State of origin and the affected State shall negotiate at the request of either party on the nature and extent of compensation or other relief for significant transboundary harm caused by an activity referred to in article 1, having regard to the factors set out in article 22 and in accordance with the principle that the victim of harm should not be left to bear the entire loss." Draft Article 22 set out equitable factors to be taken into account in the negotiations, for example the extent to which the affected State shares in the benefit of the activity that has caused the harm.

The procedural character of the residual ILC liability scheme has qualified it as an example of the growing number of procedural obligations in international environmental law. Apparently, the ILC liability scheme significantly contributes to the legitimaization of decisions by powerful States to undertake activities carrying a risk of harm to human health or the environment borne by less powerful States.

ILC scheme is intended to be applicable where there is no prior breach of any international legal obligation and will be based on the concept of strict liability, as known through the rule in *Rylands v Fletcher*, according to which a defendant may be held liable for harm despite having exercised all due care to prevent an event occurring.

UNCLOS and related treaties have significantly developed the rules of international law applicable to the preservation of the marine environment and illustrate the evolution of State responsibility in this regard. Part XII of UNCLOS, dealing with the Protection and Preservation of the Marine Environment, imposes a general obligation on States to protect and preserve the marine environment.

Under Article 194(2) of UNCLOS, States, shall take all measures necessary to ensure that activities under their jurisdiction or control are so conducted as not to cause damage by pollution to other States and their environment, and that pollution arising from incidents or activities under their jurisdiction or control does not spread beyond the areas where they exercise sovereign rights in accordance with this Convention.

The activities included in this obligation are those undertaken both by the State and by entities of a private nature under State jurisdiction and control. It is also quite apparent that this provision covers not only transboundary effects of pollution but also harm to areas beyond national jurisdiction. In other words, the global scale of environmental effects is incorporated into this particular regime. Today, the principle of sovereignty over natural resources gives rise in international environmental law to both rights and duties of States on the one hand, States have the right to pursue freely their own economic and environmental policies, including conservation and utilization of their natural wealth and the free disposal of their natural resources; on the other hand, obligations and responsibilities have emerged which confine the States' freedom of action.

In future, these principles may also gain relevance for the protection and conservation of the intrinsic value of nature, the environment and of what belongs to all of us, such as major ecological systems of our planet and biological diversity.

In any event, it is clear that procedural obligations, to varying degrees, move the locus of international decision-making authority in relation to environmental risks, so that those States that may be affected at some future point in time by a risk, if it eventuates, become entitled, to participate to a certain extent in decision-making at the time when the activity involving the risk is being embarked upon.⁹⁴

⁹⁴ An extract from the proceedings of the ILC Working Group on International Liability for the Injurious Consequences of Acts not Prohibited by International Law (Fifty third Session of the ILC, 2001, Doc, A/CN. 4/2. 53/33 p.83.

Concluding remarks

it is evident, in the light of the on going diplomatic correspondence and negotiations, that a dispute exists between Sri Lanka and India on Sethusamuduram Ship Channel Project (SSCP). In fact, as explained in the preceding sections of the paper Sri Lanka can point to the failure by India to;

- (a) Comply with its good neighbourly obligations under UNCLOS,
- (b) Notify Sri Lanka of project that risk serious transboundary impact,
- (c) Consult with Sri Lanka thereon and
- (d) Initiate joint consideration of the environmental consequences of the SSCP project.

In opposition to this, India denies that the SSCP project impinges on Sri Lanka's territorial waters or that it may adversely affect Sri Lanka's coastal and maritime environment. Apparently, India invokes the principle of sovereignty over its territorial sea and its natural resources as well as its right to development including the right of coastal state to determine freely the management of its territorial sea for its own development.

However, the Government of Sri Lanka has, for a long time been invited the Indian Government's attention to the SSCP's implications for Sri Lanka. Sri Lanka's aim has throughout been to seek to establish a proper system of consultation, notification and exchange of information. In other words, the sum effect of the initiative taken by Sri Lanka is to build a mechanism for exchange of information and joint assessment of risks through a common base of information and to work out modalities to address the concerns in a manner that can command the confidence of all stakeholders of the SSCP Project. As a matter of law, both States have an obligation to protect the marine environment and to avoid conduct which impacts adversely on the territory of the other State. This is based on well recognised principles of international law relating to the duty to have due regard to

the rights of other States and to ensure that activities under the jurisdiction or control of a State are so conducted as not to cause damage by pollution to other States and their environment.

It must also be noted that in situations such as the SSCP Project, the normal course of action between friendly countries would be to consult and cooperate in order to address common concerns and mitigate trans-boundary effects. In fact, both States can also use these types of projects not as a hindrance or threat to each other but as an opportunity for joint activity, which could be economically beneficial to both parties. However such an approach must be undertaken without damaging the environment or jeopardizing the livelihood of ordinary people such as fisher folk on both sides of the maritime boundary.

In summary it is possible to identify three sets of obligations, which the India owes to Sri Lanka, and which give rise to rights, which Sri Lanka can invoke against India:

(a) the obligations of India to cooperate with Sri Lanka to address the concerns in a manner that can command the confidence of all stakeholders of the SSCP Project;

(b) the obligations of India to carry out a joint environmental assessment of the effects on the environment of the construction and with the operation of the Sethusamuduram Ship Channel;

(c) the obligations of India to protect the marine environment of the Palk strait and Gulf of Manna area, including by taking all necessary measures to prevent, reduce and control further pollution of the Sea.

(a) The obligations of India to cooperate with Sri Lanka

By failing to notify or consult with Sri Lanka about its current and planned activities with respect to the SSCP project, India has breached its obligation to co-operate with Sri Lanka under Articles 123 and 197 of UNCLOS. Most importantly, this duty of co-operation is at the centre of the present dispute and It is clear that Sri Lanka has throughout sought a proper system of consultation, cooperation, notification and exchange of information which clearly falls in line with accepted State practice.

It is to be noted that Article 123 specifies an increased duty to co-operate, which is incumbent on States bordering a semi-enclosed sea, both in exercising their rights and in performing their duties under the UNCLOS. It sets out four main areas of activity in which States are to co-operate, including to:

(a) co-ordinate the management, conservation, exploration and exploitation of the living resources of the sea; and

(b) co-ordinate the implementation of their rights and duties with respect to the protection and preservation of the marine environment.

Thus Article 123 plainly recognizes that activities undertaken by one State in a semi-enclosed sea may have a direct impact on the rights, duties and interests of other States bordering that same sea. The inclusion of this separate Part IX of UNCLOS alone reflects the recognition that this special geographical situation with shared resources and a fragile marine environment.

Article 122 defines semi-enclosed seas as:

[...] a gulf, basin or sea surrounded by two or more States and connected to another sea or the ocean by a narrow outlet or consisting entirely or primarily of the territorial seas and exclusive economic zones of two or more coastal States.

Apparently, Palk Strait and most of the Palk Bay and Gulf of Manna area fall within the definition of Article 122. They are an area of sea surrounded by two States consisting entirely of their respective territorial seas and are connected by narrow outlets to the ocean. This prevention of pollution of a semi-enclosed sea becomes more important because of the inability of the waters of a semi-enclosed sea to effectively disperse pollution, which tends to remain contained within those waters, giving rise to greater risk of harm to human health and environmental resources.

Article 197 is entitled 'Cooperation on a global or regional basis' and prescribes a similar duty of co-operation, irrespective of whether particular areas of the sea qualify as semi-enclosed seas. It provides:

States shall cooperate on a global basis and, as appropriate, on a regional basis, directly or through competent international organizations, in formulating and elaborating international rules, standards and recommended practices and procedures consistent with this Convention, for the protection and preservation of the marine environment, taking into account characteristic regional features.

In other words, geographical circumstances of the concerned area heightens India's obligation to cooperate with Sri Lanka 'in the exercise of its rights and in the performance of its duties under UNCLOS, in particular the obligation to coordinate the implementation of its rights and duties with respect to the protection and preservation of the marine environment.

In fact the applicability and the implications of these articles were successfully raised by Malaysia and Ireland in their cases before ITLOS. Ireland claimed that the United Kingdom had breached its obligations under Articles 123 and 197 in relation to the authorization of the MOX plant, and had failed to co-operate with Ireland in the protection of the marine environment *inter alia* by refusing to share information with Ireland and/or refusing to carry out a proper environmental assessment of the impacts on the marine environment of the MOX plant and associated activities. ITLOS ordered Ireland and the UK to co-operate and, for this purpose, to enter into consultations in order to:

- (a) exchange further information with regard to possible consequences for the Irish Sea arising out of the commissioning of the MOX plant;
- (b) monitor risks or the effects of the operation of the MOX plant for the Irish Sea;and
- (c) devise, as appropriate, measures to prevent pollution of the marine environment which might result from the operation of the MOX plant.

In its order in the Land Reclamation case, ITLOS stressed once again the cardinal importance of cooperation between the parties in the protection and preservation of the marine environment. The Tribunal considered that it could not be excluded that, in the particular circumstances of the case, the land reclamation works might have adverse effects on the marine environment in and around the Straits of Johor. The Tribunal was of the view that:

[...]prudence and caution require that Malaysia and Singapore establish mechanisms for exchanging information on and assessing the risks or effects of land reclamation works.⁹⁵

ITLOS further directed Singapore not to conduct its land reclamation, which may cause irreparable damage to Malaysia's interests or serious harm to the marine environment. Tribunal bench unanimously decided to order both parties to co-operate and consult in establishing a group of independent experts with terms of reference agreed upon by both sides. The group would have to conduct a study to determine the effects of Singapore's land reclamation and to propose measures to deal with the adverse effects.

Furthermore, the obligation to cooperate is not a empty legal principle. It imposes substantive obligations".⁹⁶ In the *Lac Lanoux* case the arbitral tribunal observed that

⁹⁵ paragraph 99 of the ITLOS order in Land Reclamation case, ITLOS Reports 2003, Vol.7p.26.

⁹⁶P. Daillier and A. Pellet, Droit International Public, 6th ed, 1999, p. 432.

France's duty of co-operation with Spain meant that it cannot ignore Spain's interests. Spain is entitled to demand that her rights be respected and that her interests be taken into consideration. [...] If in the course of discussions, the downstream State submits schemes to it, the upstream State must examine them, but it has the right to give preference to the solution contained in its own scheme, provided that it takes into consideration in a reasonable manner the interests of the downstream State.⁹⁷

Again, the International Court of Justice, in the 1974 *Fisheries* case, observed that the duty to co-operate required that "due recognition must be given to the rights of both parties."⁹⁸ It also means that neither State is entitled to insist "upon its own position without contemplating any modification of it".⁹⁹ More recently, ITLOS in the paragraph 82 of its order in the Mox Plant case pronounced that:

[...] the duty to co-operate is a fundamental principle in the prevention of pollution of the marine environment under Part XII of the Convention and general international law and that rights arise there from which the Tribunal may consider appropriate to preserve under Article 290 of the Convention.

Further, it can be observed that this obligation also exists in customary international law, as reflected in Article 3 of the 1974 Charter of Economic Rights and Duties of States:

In the exploitation of natural resources shared by two or more countries each State must cooperate on the basis of a system of information and prior consultations in order to achieve optimum use of such resources without causing damage to the legitimate interest of others.¹⁰⁰

The Leading International law authors have also recognized that the obligation to cooperate requires regular exchanges of information, the notification of measures or activities which might have effects on other interested States, and where real differences emerge between two States making use of a shared resource, the

⁹⁷24 ILR 101, at 140 (1957).

⁹⁸Fisheries Jurisdiction (United Kingdom v Iceland), Merits, Judgment, ICJ Reps 1974, p. 31.

⁹⁹North Sea Continental Shelf Cases, ICJ Reps 1969, p. 47, para. 85.

¹⁰⁰GA Res 3281 (XXIX) of 12 December 1974.

obligation to enter into consultations and negotiations.¹⁰¹ At the very least, the duty to cooperate involves the requirement that the neighbouring State's views and interests are taken into consideration in a reasonable manner.

Furthermore, the International Law Commission has recognized the:

affirmation of a broad principle that States, even when undertaking acts that international law did not prohibit, had a duty to consider the interests of other States that might be affected.¹⁰²

Hence, the obligation of cooperation in accordance with the Article 123 and 197 of UNCLOS and widely accepted rules of international law means that India is obliged inter alia (a) to notify Sri Lanka of the activities it has undertaken, (b) to respond in a timely fashion to requests for information from Sri Lanka, and (c) to take into account Sri Lanka's rights and interests in the protection of the marine environment.

In other words, India's obligation to cooperate means that Sri Lanka is entitled to be notified about the essential details concerning the construction and operation of the SSCP project.

 ¹⁰¹ P-M Dupuy, *Droit International Public*, 2nd ed.1994, p 493.
 ¹⁰² Ybk ILC (1980), Vol.II, pt. 2,p.159.

(b) India's failure to provide adequate environmental assessment

India's obligation to cooperate with Sri Lanka includes the responsibility to take into account Sri Lanka's rights and interest in the protection of its marine environment in the territorial sea. Recognizing that such interest imply, pursuant to Articles 123 and 197 of UNCLOS, taking Sri Lanka's views into account in the decision making process of the SSCP.

As observed, India has systematically chosen not to respond to Sri Lanka's concerns from the beginning; it appears to have ignored them entirely. It now says that Sri Lanka should first come with concrete evidence of the adverse effects of the Project, notwithstanding the fact that India did not initially inform Sri Lanka of what the exact project would be. If that is indeed the case, India plainly cannot claim to have taken into account Sri Lanka's rights and interests. This failure constitutes a further violation of India's duty to cooperate.

It can also be argued that India has violated Article 206 of UNCLOS assessment of potential effects of activities by failing, properly and fully to assess the potential effects of the SSCP project on the marine environment of Sri Lanka. This article provides:

When States have reasonable grounds for believing that planned activities under their jurisdiction or control may cause substantial pollution of or significant and harmful changes to the marine environment, they shall, as far as practicable, assess the potential effects of such activities on the marine environment and shall communicate reports of the results of such assessments in the manner provided in article 205.

The construction of a ship canal in a highly sensitive ecosystem and operation of it are clearly activities within the jurisdiction and control of India which may cause substantial pollution of or significant and harmful changes to the marine environment of Sri Lanka. Therefore Sri Lanka can consider that India is in violation of Article 206 by having failed to carry out an adequate environment assessment of the SSCP on the Sri Lanka side.

Furthermore, India has ignored the legal developments in international environment law and in particular law relating to environment impact assessment in authorizing the SSCP project. In addition, such authorization would violate the obligations of India to apply a precautionary approach and to, *inter alia*, protect and preserve the marine environment, to take all possible steps to prevent and eliminate pollution from land based sources.

At paragraph 140 in the Judgment of the Case Concerning the Gabcikovo-Nagymaros Project, ICJ emphasized the need to take into account new standards of environmental protection. The International Court stated:

In order to evaluate the environmental risks, current standards must be taken into consideration. [...] The Court is mindful that, in the field of environmental protection, vigilance and prevention are required on account of the often-irreversible character of damage to the environment and of the limitations inherent in the very mechanism of reparation of this type of damage.

Throughout the ages, mankind has, for economic and other reasons, constantly interfered with nature. In the past, this was often done without consideration of the effects upon the environment. Owing to new scientific insights and to a growing awareness of the risks for mankind – for present and future generations – of pursuit of such interventions at an unconsidered and unabated pace, new norms and standards have been developed, set forth in a great number of instruments in the last two decades. Such new norms have to be taken into consideration, and such new standards given proper weight, not only when States contemplate new activities but also when continuing with activities begun in the past.

The ICJ concluded that for the purposes of the present case, this means that the Parties together should look afresh at the effects on the environment of the operation of the Gabcikovo power plant.

In conclusion, Sri Lanka has a right under Article 206 of UNCLOS to expect India to subject the SSCP to an environmental assessment, which takes into account the

environmental standards pertaining at the time of any decision by the Indian authorities.

The definition of "pollution of the marine environment" in the interpretation clause in Article 1 of UNCLOS, which sets the tone for all that follows, should be the framework to consider detriment to the environment that arise in this particular situation. Article 1 provides;

[...] the introduction by man, directly or indirectly, of substances or energy into the marine environment, including estuaries, which results or is likely to result in such deleterious effects as harm to living resources and marine life, hazards to human health, hindrance to marine activities, including fishing and other legitimate uses of the sea, impairment of quality for use of sea water and reduction of amenities.

The facts of this case obviously fall within the terms of this definition and raises the issue of the extent to which a State can carry out extensive construction works that are likely to impinge upon the interests of a close neighbour without the prior satisfaction of two fundamental conditions as pointed out in the Malaysia–Singapore case by the eminent jurist, Sir Elihu Lauterpacht:

The first is the requirement of carrying out a public environmental impact assessment within its own territory in which the interests of the affected States could be represented. Thus, way back in 1966, for example, a public enquiry was held in England relating to the proposal for the development of a deep waste repository at Sellafield on the Cumbrian coast abutting the Irish Sea. The Irish Government presented orally a 50-page statement to the Inspector to which, in his final report, he attached significant weight in his final report.

The second, and the most important, requirement is that of consultation with and warning to the neighbour whose waters, coastline and fishery resources may be adversely affected. It is not enough for the actor State unilaterally and privately to determine what it thinks the environmental impact of its proposals may be. It is bound by its undertakings in UNCLOS to contemplate the likely effect that its activities may have on other States and on the marine environment generally, and to ascertain that effect and take it into account.

[...]Singapore is not entitled to say that Malaysia should first demonstrate the adverse effects of Singapore's action, notwithstanding the fact that Singapore did not initially inform Malaysia of what that action would be. Malaysia cannot be expected to respond to a case that has not been presented in appropriate detail. Yet that is what Singapore has asked Malaysia to do; and it is legally unacceptable. So Malaysia has been obliged to introduce into the close and intensive relationship with its neighbour the divisive element of recourse to litigation.¹⁰³

The integrated approach of UNCLOS makes other parts of the instrument applicable to the present case. For example, Article 194 (2) dealing with pollution, formulates the equally well-established rule that no State has the right to carry out activities within its jurisdiction or control, which cause damage to other States and their environment.

There can be little doubt that the SSCP project has a significant impact on the ecosystem in and around the territorial sea of Sri Lanka. Therefore, India is under an international law obligation, as an absolute minimum, to inform and consult with Sri Lanka on its on-going and planned work related to SSCP.

¹⁰³ Submission of the Sir Elihu Lauterpacht in the Dispute Concerning Land Reclamation Activities by Singapore Impinging upon Malaysia's Rights in and around the Straits of Johor inclusive of the areas around Point 20, (ITLOS *-Malaysia* v. *Singapore*), Request for Provisional Measures, 5 September 2003, ITLOS Reports 2003 VOI.7 at Para. 13.

(c) States have the obligation to protect and preserve the environment.

In its recent Diplomatic Notes, India has reiterated its view that planned works of the SSCP project will not cause any significant impact on any of Sri Lanka's concerns which, as observed earlier include the protection of the marine environment. It should be noted, particularly, that Indian studies have been almost exclusively focused on the effects of measures in India's territorial waters. Seemingly no serious attempt has been made by India to obtain information, or to measure effects, on the Sri Lankan side.In contrast, Sri Lanka has undertaken such studies and has conducted assessment of the effects of the project and has found that the project threatens to cause serious harm to its marine environment.

As clearly stated by Prof. James Crawford before the ITLOS in the Malaysia– Singapore case:

The concept, as formulated in Part XII, goes much further than merely combating pollution after it has already taken place. It entails the active taking of legal and administrative measures, and the application of scientific methods and procedures which are all designed not simply to check or abate the deterioration of marine ecosystems, but also provide the means for protecting and preserving the marine environment from the harmful effects of pollution and other hazards.¹⁰⁴

The core components of the comprehensive framework on the rules for the protection and preservation of the marine environment are the provisions on standard setting, on enforcement, and on safeguards. These are closely interrelated.

It is relevant to note Article 194(2) of UNCLOS, because it clarifies that

States shall take all measures necessary to ensure that activities under their jurisdiction or control are so conducted as not to cause damage by pollution to other States and their environment, and that pollution arising from incidents or activities under their jurisdiction or

¹⁰⁴ Ibid. submission of Prof. James Crawford before ITLOS, 5 Sept.2003.ITLOS Reports 2003.

control does not spread beyond the areas where they exercise sovereign rights in accordance with this Convention.

This article is a specific application of the classic maxim *sic utere tuo ut alienum non laedas*, i.e. the general rule that a State is under an obligation not to allow its territory, or any other area over which it is exercising jurisdiction or control, to be used to the detriment of another State.Consistent with these developments, Section 4 deals with Monitoring and Environmental Assessment, with Article 204(2) provides:

States shall keep under surveillance the effects of any activities which they permit or in which they engage in order to determine whether these activities are likely to pollute the marine environment.

Articles 194 and 204 of UNCLOS require the application of the precautionary approach, which has now been consolidated in contemporary international law. It is widely agreed that the core of the principle and the consensus thereon is well reflected in Principle 15 of the Rio Declaration on environment and development, which provides:

In order to protect the environment, the precautionary approach shall be widely applied by States according to their capabilities. Where there are threats of serious or irreversible harm, lack of full scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason to postponing cost-effective measures to prevent environmental degradation.

Article 206 of UNCLOS elaborates on this when requiring an environmental impact assessment. It provides:

When States have reasonable grounds for believing that planned activities under their jurisdiction or control may cause substantial pollution of *or* significant and harmful changes to the marine environment, they shall, as far as practicable, assess the potential effects of such activities on the marine environment and shall communicate reports of the results of such assessments.

As indicated as early as in the 1928 decision in the *Island of Palmas* case, every State has an obligation to protect within its territory the rights of other States. This is reaffirmed in Article 2(3) of the UNCLOS by reference to the general obligation to

exercise sovereignty over the territorial sea in accordance with the Convention and other rules of international law.

This relates directly to Sri Lanka's right of respect for its territorial integrity and its sovereignty. It has the right not to suffer from serious pollution and other significant damage to its marine environment. In fact, India's "right to development" is clearly unsustainable in the given case under the law of the sea obligations.

Apparently Sri Lanka only claims that its rights and interests are duly taken into account, in particular its right to be consulted.

As ITLOS stated in the orders of MOX Plant and Land Reclamation cases, 'the duty to co-operate is a fundamental principle in the prevention of pollution of the marine environment under Part XII of the UNCLOS and general international law.'

Finally, Sri Lanka's case rests on the precautionary principle. A precautionary approach is central to the sustainable use of a territorial sea and it commits a State to avoid human activity, which may cause significant harm to the natural resources and the ecosystem and/or serious infringement of the rights of other States.

The precautionary principle, as Birnie and Boyle state, is an obligation of diligent prevention and control. Hence, precautionary measures should be adopted and based on up-to-date and independent scientific judgment. These measures should be transparent and be made available to all interested parties. The precautionary approach requires that, when there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing costeffective measures.

On the other hand, the precautionary approach is reflected in various Articles of UNCLOS, notably Articles 194, 204 and 206, as well as in the definition of pollution in Article1. In the Southern Bluefin Tuna case, ITLOS relied on scientific uncertainty surrounding the conservation of tuna stocks to justify the award of provisional

measures to protect the stock from further depletion pending the resolution of the dispute. An independent environmental impact assessment is a central tool of international law of the precautionary principle. Such an EIA should have been conducted by India at least to the satisfaction of Sri Lanka.

The precautionary principle is a freestanding customary international law obligation which binds States, and further it is a principle, applicable to the interpretation of each and every provision of UNCLOS as pointed out by Sir Elihu Lutapacht in the Land reclamation case.

In fact the precautionary principle is well established in its application to the protection of the marine environment. The preamble to the 1984 Ministerial Declaration of the International Conference on the Protection of the North Sea referred to the consciousness that States must not wait for proof of harmful effects before taking action, since damage to the marine environment can be irreversible or remedial only at considerable expense and over long periods.

In 1992 more than 175 participating States at the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development confirmed their support for the precautionary principle, adopting a definition in Principle 15 of the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development. This provides:

In order to protect the environment, the precautionary approach shall be widely applied by States according to their capabilities. Where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures to prevent environmental degradation.

In the Southern Bluefin Tuna case ITLOS recognized the need for the parties in those cases to 'act with prudence and caution' to ensure that effective conservation measures are taken and to prevent serious harm to stocks of Southern Bluefin tuna.¹⁰⁵

¹⁰⁵ paragraph 77 of the ITLOS order in the Southern Bluefin Tuna case, ITLOS Reports 1999 p. 280.

Furthermore Sri Lanka could consider the dumping of the extracted material into the places of close proximity to its maritime boundary as a violation of India's obligations under Part XII of UNCLOS, particularly when read in the light of the precautionary principle. These discharges constitute pollution within the meaning of Article 1(4) of UNCLOS, which pollution will enter the marine environment, including areas over which Sri Lanka exercises sovereign rights or has sovereignty.

These dumpings are also incompatible with India's obligation "to protect and preserve the marine environment" under Article 192. They are also incompatible with the India's obligations to "take all measures that are necessary to prevent, reduce and control pollution from any source",under Article 194(1), to use "best practicable means" to achieve that result, to 'ensure that activities under [India's] jurisdiction or control are so conducted as not to cause damage by pollution to [Sri Lanka]" under Article 194(2), and to ensure that 'pollution arising from incidents or activities under [India's] jurisdiction or control does not spread beyond the areas where [India] exercise[s] sovereign rights.

The dumping also violate the obligations under Article 207 of the UNCLOS on pollution from land-based sources (in particular Article 207(2) and (5), Article 212 and Article 213 of UNCLOS, on the enforcement of laws with respect to pollution from land-based sources.

Lastly, it is prudent to say that all these observations can be clearly applied to the facts of the present circumstances. India's conduct has been dominated by unilateralism. It has not consulted nor notified Sri Lanka on the SSCP project. It has brushed aside Sri Lanka's repeated requests for more information and for high-level negotiations to resolve the dispute. When discussions eventually took place, in April 2006, India once more denied Sri Lanka's request for a joint impact assessment of the project so as to allow both sides to undertake studies and continue negotiations.

As pointed out by Sir Lauterpacht in the Land Reclamation case,

It makes no sense, on policy or legal grounds, to proceed with the project and then enter into consultations with a view to developing an appropriate response strategy. In such circumstances these States are merely presented with a *fait accompli*, and their legitimate interests and rights cannot be taken into account. The failure to consult with affected States before the authorization of the Project is incompatible with the very purposes of the duty to cooperate.¹⁰⁶

¹⁰⁶ Submission of Sir Elihu Lauterpacht in the Land Reclamation Case (ITLOS -Malaysia v.Singapore) Request for Provisional Measures, 5 September 2003.